THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BAMBERG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Doyet A. Early, II, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUN - 5 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

Appellate Case No.: 2012-207489

Laura Riley as the Personal Representative
of the Estate of Benjamin Riley,.....Petitioner

v.

Ford Motor Company,..... Respondent

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Ronnie L. Crosby
PETERS, MURDAUGH, PARKER,
ELTZROTH & DETRICK, P.A.
101 Mulberry Street, East
Post Office Box 457
Hampton, South Carolina 29924
(803) 943-2111

Daniel E. Henderson
Matthew V. Creech
PETERS, MURDAUGH, PARKER,
ELTZROTH & DETRICK, P.A.
690 N. Green Street
Post Office Box 2500

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. WHETHER THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED BY EQUITABLY REALLOCATING THE ESTATE'S SETTLEMENT WITH CARTER, WHEN EVIDENCE EXISTED THAT WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT A SURVIVAL CAUSE OF ACTION UNDERLYING THE ALLOCATION?
2. WHETHER THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN REVERSING THE TRIAL COURT'S GRANT OF NEW TRIAL *NISI ADDITUR* WHEN THE TRIAL COURT, IN ITS DISCRETION, PROVIDED SATISFACTORY COMPELLING REASONS FOR THE GRANT OF *ADDITUR*.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 26, 2008, Respondent Laura Riley, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Benjamin Riley, (hereafter, the "Estate"), brought wrongful death and survival actions sounding in products liability in Bamberg County against Ford Motor Company and for negligence against Andrew Marshall Carter, II ("Carter"). Carter was the at-fault driver of the vehicle that collided with Riley's truck. (R. p. 11). As against Ford, the Estate claimed Riley's injuries were enhanced by a defectively designed door-latch system in his Ford F-150. (Id). In April of 2010, Carter was dismissed from the suit after settling with the Estate for \$25,000.00, of which \$20,000.00 was allocated to the survival claim and \$5,000.00 to the wrongful death claim. (R. p. 29; R. p. 1; R. p. 4).

A jury trial in Bamberg County began on September 19, 2011. Prior to the directed verdict stage, the Estate withdrew its survival action. (R. p. 342, line 23 - p. 343, line 2). The Estate's wrongful death claim was submitted to the jury and on September 29, 2011, the jury returned a verdict in favor of the Estate for \$300,000.00 in actual damages. The jury also found that Ford's actions "were willful, wanton, or reckless," but awarded "zero" dollars in punitive damages. (R. p. 378; R. p. 374, line 9-p. 375, line 5).

On October 10, 2011, Ford timely moved, *inter alia*, for a set off from the jury's verdict in the amount of \$25,000.00 to account for the full amount of the Estate's settlement with Carter. (R. pp. 49-51). By form order of January 25, 2012, the trial court denied Ford's request for set off. (R. p. 5). The Estate also filed post-trial motions on October 10, 2011, seeking either a new trial absolute, a new trial under the

"thirteenth juror" doctrine, or a new trial *nisi additur* based upon the mere inadequacy of the verdict. (R. p. 52). The trial court held arguments on November 21, 2011 and then requested additional briefing on the limited issue of new trial *nisi additur*. On January 10, 2012, the trial court granted the Estate's motion for new trial *nisi additur* and ordered Ford to pay "an additional \$600,000 in actual damages... bringing the total verdict to \$900,000.00, or a new trial will be granted."

Both parties timely filed Notices of Appeal. On February 5, 2014, the Court of Appeals issued Opinion Number 5195, affirming in part and reversing in part as to the parties various issues. The Estate timely filed its Petition for Rehearing and Suggestion for Rehearing *En Banc* on March 7, 2014. The Court of Appeals denied the Petition for Rehearing by Order of April 3, 2014; however, the Suggestion for Rehearing *En Banc* was not acted on and denied until May 2, 2014.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Benjamin "Ben" Riley died on August 29, 2007 when he was ejected from a 1988 Ford F-150 "PN96" that was involved in a collision in Bamberg County, South Carolina. The F-150 pickup was owned and maintained by Jasper County and as Sheriff of Jasper County for ten years, Riley had access and permission to use the F-150 pickup truck. (Tr. p. 486, ll. 2-14). Riley frequently used the truck, and on the day of the wreck he had travelled to Bamberg County to pick up grain and feed for the farm animals he kept at his home. (Tr. p. 1230, l. 8 – p. 1231, l. 3; Tr. p. 491, ll. 3-12; p. 193, l. 11 – p. 194, l. 5).

Riley purchased the feed and then drove towards home on Erhardt Road. At Erhardt Road's intersection with Pocketville Road, sixteen year old Carter failed to yield the right of way, pulled into the intersection, and into Riley's lane of travel. (Tr. p. 241,

ll. 20 – p. 242, l. 8;; p. 243, l.17 – p.244, l. 18 – p. 249, ll. 10-13). Riley obviously saw the Carter vehicle before initial impact because he took evasive action, veering right trying to avoid a direct impact with Carter. (Tr. p. 283, ll.15-25; p. 388, l.21 – p. 339, l.5). Despite Riley’s evasive maneuver, the vehicles struck one another, causing Riley’s F-150 to leave the roadway, roll over, and then strike a tree. (Tr. p. 760, l. 20 – p. 761, l. 4; p. 1072, ll. 3-9; p. 1086, ll. 5-24).

At initial impact between the vehicles, the left front of the Riley F-150 struck the right front of the Carter vehicle. (Tr. p. 339, ll. 2-15; p. 340, l.7 – p.341, l. 8). During this impact the forces translated rearward into Riley’s left driver’s door, compressing the door opening a few millimeters. (Tr. p. 837, l. 2 – p. 841, l. 13). The resulting compression of the door caused the door latch to activate and unlatch. (Tr. p. 848, l.20 – p. 852, l.15). The latch itself, although deformed, was not damaged. The door became unlatched due to a type of failure mode termed “foreshortening” by automotive engineers, where the space between the inside door handle and latch shorten. The decrease at issue was approximately 11.85 millimeters. (Tr. p. 855, l.7 – p. 866, l.7).

After the initial impact with the Carter vehicle, the truck rolled and Riley was ejected fully from the vehicle. (Tr. p. 761, ll.5-8; p. 999, ll.3-6). Riley’s body was found 85 feet from the point of ejection (Tr. p. 391, ll. 10-21) off of the right shoulder of the roadway (Tr. p. 391, ll. 10-21).

Brian Bishop, the first eyewitness to arrive on the scene, came immediately after the wreck and testified that he “heard something in the bushes” and then saw Ben Riley face down. Bishop also heard a “gasping sound” but did not approach Riley. (R. p. 111, line 10 – p. 112, line 20). Ben Riley died from injuries sustained from the ejection. (R. p.

305, lines 5-13). Witnesses confirmed the driver side door was open when the truck came to rest. (R. p. 108, line 15 – p. 109, line 22; R. p. 113, lines 7-18; R. pp. 476-477).

Insofar as damages, the Estate ushered testimony from various members of Ben Riley's direct family, his Sheriff's Department, and his community. The Estate also designated many other members of Ben Riley's community to testify as to the damages and loss sustained by his family. During the trial, the trial judge actually stopped the Estate from calling further damage witnesses. During the testimony of Dale R. Terry, upon objection by Ford to a question about Ben Riley as a person, the court stated: "I am going to rule under 403 that it's now becoming cumulative. Let's move on to another area, Mr. Henderson." (Tr. p. 495, ll. 19-21). Outside of the presence of the jury, the trial judge admonished the Estate about the number of damage witnesses it intended to call. In passing on the importance and credibility of the witnesses that had been called by the Estate, the trial judge stated:

... But it seems to me that we've had a – in fact, I've been doing this a long time and I can't remember a trial that I was either involved in as a lawyer or as a judge where I've heard more glowing testimony and genuine testimony about the person's life and his service to his family and to the community. I mean, it's been - it's been very touching, to be quite frank with you; so tell me what else you want to do other than what you have done.

(Tr. p. 637, ll. 16-24). The trial court then excluded proposed Estate witnesses involving Ben's activities as a lodge member, his crusades as a cancer survivor, as well as the testimony of his best friend. (Tr. p. 636, ll. 9 – p. 647, l. 17).

Finally, the purely pecuniary losses sustained by Riley's family were testified to by Oliver G. Wood, Ph.D., an expert economist, who was admitted without objection. (Tr. p. 1206, ll. 1.7). Dr. Wood's economic loss testimony concluded that the pecuniary

loss to the Riley family totaled \$228,605.00, of which \$145,050.00 was the post-death/pre-trial loss and \$81,555.00 post-trial loss. (Tr. p. 1209, 1.2 – p. 1210, 1.17). These figures did not account for the private security income earned by Riley, (Tr. p. 1211, II. 6-10) or costs of the funeral. (Tr. p. 1211, II. 12-14; Exhibit 139A). No economic consideration was given by Dr. Wood to the loss of love, affection, guidance, companionship, or wounded feelings. (Tr. p. 1211, 11. 15-p. 1212, 1. 1).

ARGUMENTS

Pursuant to Rule 242, SCACR, the Petitioner respectfully moves for a Writ of Certiorari and for this Court to review and reverse the Court of Appeals Opinion 5195 of February 5, 2014. The Court of Appeals erroneously reversed the trial court's grant of *nisi additur* and also conducted a *de novo* review of a non-fraudulent settlement which was supported by the evidence. On both issues addressed, the Court of Appeals' Opinion conflicts with existing precedent and in the analyses undertaken, creates novel issues for which no precedent exists. On each issue, the Court of Appeals' analysis is fatally and fundamentally flawed, and this Court should review the issues and reverse.

I. The Opinion Conflicts with Binding Precedent Concerning New Trial *Nisi Additur* and Creates a New Bright Line Test without Precedential Support.

A plaintiff aggrieved by a jury verdict perceived to be inadequate in light of the evidence presented at trial has long been afforded an avenue of relief, whether by moving for a new trial or for new trial *nisi additur*. In this case, the trial court entered a detailed, comprehensive order discussing the compelling reasons it chose to add \$600,000.00 to the jury verdict of \$300,000.00. Furthermore, the record includes statements by the trial judge that clearly bolster the "reasons" for the trial court's compulsion to grant *additur*.

Before excluding multiple damages witnesses, who had not yet testified, the trial court stated:

... But it seems to me that we've had a – in fact, I've been doing this a long time and I can't remember a trial that I was either involved in as a lawyer or as a judge where I've heard more glowing testimony and genuine testimony about the person's life and his service to his family and to the community. I mean, it's been – it's been very touching, to be quite frank with you; so tell me what else you want to do other than what you have done.

(R. p. 169, lines 16-24). In granting *additur*, the trial court satisfied all requirements of existing case law in its order by giving numerous compelling reasons for its decision.

Despite the trial court's compliance with existing standards, the Court of Appeals' Opinion reversed, by applying the nebulous and still undefined "compelling reasons" requirement and seemingly relying upon concerns that the trial court invaded the jury's province in an impermissible manner. However, the historic power of the trial court to grant the relief of new trial or new trial *nisi additur* has always been tempered by deference due to the jury's findings and the parties' rights to trial by jury. The case law defining *nisi additur* as a discretionary power shows our Courts grappled with those same concerns many years ago, yet allowed the trial court wide discretionary powers in dealing with the issue. The trial court's order here did not offend those notions and the trial court struck a careful balance in its detailed order granting *additur*. All applicable standards, no matter how ill-defined, were rigorously adhered to by the trial court; yet the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's grant of *additur*. The Court's reversal of the grant of *nisi additur* is inconsistent with existing case law.

Furthermore, the Court of Appeals sets a new and dangerous precedent which binds the hands of the trial court on post-trial review: the opinion stands for the

proposition that if any amount of “noneconomic” damages above the claimed “economic” damages claimed is awarded by a jury, then the trial court cannot through the exercise of discretion grant *additur*. A bright line test of this nature has never existed, nor should it. The holding here flies in the face of the precedent of *Toole v. Toole*, 260 S.C. 235, 195 S.E.2d 389 (1973), as addressed below.

Perhaps recognizing the inconsistency of the result in this matter, as well as the dissonance between existing precedent and the logical path to arrive at the result in this case, the Opinion’s exact holding reads:

Limiting our holding to the facts of this case, we find the jury awarded damages for noneconomic loss, and the trial court’s mere disagreement with the jury’s determination of the proper amount of those damages is not a compelling reason for granting *additur*.

While the Opinion quotes some of the compelling reasons for the *additur* from the trial court’s order, it then ignores the same and all other compelling reasons given and simply states that the trial court’s disagreement with the jury verdict is not a “compelling reason.” The Opinion completely misses the point that the through the exercise of the long vested discretion, a trial court, in the first instance, for any *additur* that has ever been granted, has necessarily disagreed with the amount of the verdict and made a determination that the verdict was too low. This is, and has always been, the primary, threshold question when faced with a motion for *nisi additur*, where the trial court can grant the motion in the face of a merely inadequate verdict. Only after this initial exercise of discretion – the finding of mere inadequacy – must the grant of *additur* be justified by “compelling reasons.” Here, the trial court’s order exhaustively lists the numerous compelling reasons which are ignored in the Opinion. Respectfully, the Opinion’s holding in this matter should be altered to bring it in line with existing law.

A. The Wide Discretion of the Trial Court to Grant *Additur* and the Evolution of, and Lack of Guidance as to, the “Compelling Reasons” Analysis.¹

A motion for a new trial may be granted in tort actions where the verdict is grossly inadequate; such motions are addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge. *Bodie v. Charleston & W.C. Ry. Co.*, 66 S.C. 302, 44 S.E. 943 (1903); *Toole v. Toole*, 260 S.C. 235, 195 S.E.2d 389 (1973); *Daniel v. Hazel*, 242 S.C. 443, 131 S.E.2d 269 (1963). “Motions for new trial on the ground of either excessiveness or inadequacy are addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge. His exercise of such discretion, however, is not absolute and it is the duty of this Court to review and determine whether there has been an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law.” *Toole v. Toole*.

“The trial judge alone has the power to grant a new trial *nisi* when he finds the amount of the verdict to be merely inadequate or excessive...” *Chapman v. Upstate RV & Marine*, 610 S.E.2d 852 (Ct. App. 2005) (quoting *McCourt by & Through McCourt v. Abernathy*, 318 S.C. 301, 308, 457 S.E.2d 603, 607 (1995)). The trial court may exercise this discretion and the power to grant a motion for new trial *nisi additur* when that trial court determines that the jury’s verdict is merely inadequate in light of the evidence presented.” *Bailey v. Peacock*, 318, S.C. 13, 14, 455 S.E.2d 690, 691 (1995); *Howard v. Roberson*, 376 S.C. 143, 654 S.E.2d 877 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing, *Green v. Fritz*, 356 S.C. 566, 570, 590 S.E.2d 39, 41 (Ct. App. 2003)). The trial court is given “wide discretion” in

¹ The Court of Appeals’ Order Denying Rehearing notes that the Estate’s discussion that the compelling reasons analysis is borne of *dicta* has been raised for the first time on motion for rehearing. The Estate does not point to the history of that concept to argue that it does not apply here; since post-trial motions at the trial level, all parties have acknowledged the applicability of the “compelling reasons” analysis. This is not a preservation issue. Nevertheless, based upon the Court of Appeals’ ruling, the Estate points to the history to highlight the lack of guidance or definition provided to the bench and bar, and to ask that this Court consider clarifying the analysis.

ruling on a motion for *additur*. *Luchok v. Vena*, 391 S.C. 262, 264, 705 S.E.2d 690, 691 (Ct. App. 2010). While the jury’s determination of damages must be given substantial deference, *id.*, on appeal the trial court’s decision to grant *additur* likewise is entitled to “great deference.” *Krepps by Krepps v. Ausen*, 324 S.C. 597, 608, 470 S.E.2d 290, 295 (1996). “The consideration of a motion for a new trial *nisi additur* requires the trial judge to consider the adequacy of the verdict in light of the evidence presented.” *Id.*, citing, *Patterson v. Reid*, 318 S.C. 183, 456 S.E.2d 436 (Ct. App. 1998). Furthermore, “[t]he trial judge, who heard the evidence and is more familiar with the evidentiary atmosphere at trial, possesses the better-informed view of the damages than this [the appellate] Court.” *Krepps*, quoting *Rush v. Blanchard*, 310 S.C. 375, 426 S.E.2d 802 (1993).

Historically, a trial court’s grant of *additur* would only be reversed if an abuse of discretion occurred which amounted to an error of law. In 1984 the as yet undefined phrase “compelling reasons” entered our appellate Courts’ lexicon under the abuse of discretion framework. The “compelling reasons” analysis requires a trial court granting *additur* to state “compelling reasons” for doing so in its order. This requirement – which has never been defined – is borne of *dicta* from an opinion of September of 1984 by the Court of Appeals, *Haskins v. Fairfield Elec. Co-op.*, 321 S.E.2d 185 (Ct. App. 1984).²

Prior to *Haskins*, to the best of the Estate’s research, the phrase “compelling reasons” had never been included in appellate analysis of the trial court’s discretionary decision making as to the propriety of *additur*. In fact, only months before *Haskins*, in *Graham v. Whitaker*, 321 S.E.2d 40, 45 (1984), our Supreme Court affirmed a grant of

² Of note, the “compelling reasons” analysis is completely absent from appellate review of an order granting new trial *nisi remittitur*. A trial court finding a verdict to be excessive has no burden of presenting compelling reasons, whatever those may be, for the decision. This is fundamentally unfair.

additur under the normal “abuse of discretion” standard. In *Graham v. Whitaker*, the Supreme Court lucidly addressed the concepts, standards, and historical underpinnings of *nisi additur* that are still (or should be) the standard today:

There can be no question but that the trial judge has the authority and traditionally has in this State granted new trials outright when he, sitting as the thirteenth juror charged with the duty of seeing that justice is done, is convinced that a new trial is necessitated on the basis of the facts in the case. There is given to the trial judge a broad discretion which has been used sparsely and rightly so.

In like fashion, it is well settled that judges have the authority to grant a new trial *nisi remittitur*. In such cases, the judge may not impose a substitute for the jury verdict on an unwilling plaintiff. He may give the defendant the right to a new trial unless the plaintiff agrees to remit a portion of the verdict. If the plaintiff chooses not to remit a new trial is essential.

The motion for a new trial *additur* has not been frequently used but it is true that the trial judge has the authority to grant a new trial to the plaintiff unless the defendant agrees to the payment of an additional amount. We need not plow new ground in holding that the authority to act in behalf of the plaintiff is equally appropriate.

...

We know of no just reason why relief from excessiveness or inadequacy should not be equally available to plaintiffs and defendants. In neither case may a judge impose his will upon a party. The option must be given. Certainly, he has no right to substitute his judgment for that of the jury. In actuality, the import of a new trial *nisi additur* or *nisi remittitur* is a suggestion on part of the judge of a settlement figure. If the party ruled against agrees to the suggested amount he may not complain. The prevailing party having asked for the relief must likewise be content with the determination.

Id., 321 S.E.2d at 45 (1984). Months later in *Haskins*, Judge Shaw added: “However, compelling reasons must be stated in the order as to why it was necessary to invade the jury’s province in this [grant of *additur*] manner.” *Id.*, 321 S.E.2d at 190. No standards or definitions of “compelling reasons” were offered.

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