THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM BAMBERG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

AUG - 1 2014

The Honorable Doyet A. Early III, Circuit Court Judge **S.C. Supreme Court**

Civil Action No. 2008-CP-05-235
Appellate Case No. 2012-207489

Laura Riley as the Personal Representative of the Estate
of Benjamin Riley, Petitioner,

v.

Ford Motor Company, Respondent

RETURN TO PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

C. Mitchell Brown
A. Mattison Bogan
Michael J. Anzelmo
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough, LLP
Post Office Box 11070
Columbia, SC 29211-1070
(803) 799-2000

Curtis L. Ott
Laura W. Jordan
Gallivan White & Boyd, PA
Post Office Box 7368
Columbia, SC 29202

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

ARGUMENT

The South Carolina Appellate Court Rules provide that a “writ of certiorari is not a matter of right, but of sound judicial discretion, and will be granted only where there are special and important reasons.” Rule 242(b), SCACR; *see also State v. Lyles*, 381 S.C. 442, 443, 673 S.E.2d 811, 812 (2009) (“The Court has held it will grant certiorari to the Court of Appeals only where special reasons justify the exercise of that power.”) (citations omitted). Typically, the granting of certiorari is limited to cases where: (1) there are novel questions of law; (2) there is a dissent in the decision of the Court of Appeals; (3) the decision by the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a prior decision of this Court; (4) substantial constitutional issues are directly involved; or (5) a federal question is included, and the decision by the Court of Appeals conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court of the United States. *See* Rule 242(b), SCACR; *see also Lyles*, 381 S.C. at 444 n.2, 673 S.E.2d at 812 n.2. As explained below, the Court of Appeals’ ruling presents none of these factors, is consistent with longstanding precedent regarding *additur*, and the Estate has not pointed to any other “special and important” reason that would warrant a review of the Court of Appeals’ decision.

I. The Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with well-settled law regarding *additur*.

The Court of Appeals' opinion reiterating and applying the law of *additur* presents no basis upon which to grant certiorari. It presents no novel issue, no dissenting opinion, no conflict with prior law, and no constitutional or federal question. Rather, it simply reiterates the time-tested rule established by this Court and repeated by our appellate courts for nearly three decades that a trial judge is permitted to invade the province of the jury and award *additur* only when this invasion is justified by compelling reasons. Here, the Court of Appeals correctly applied that rule, concluding that the trial judge erred by effectively trebling the jury's verdict based only on his view of how "emotionally compelling" the testimony was. The reversal of this ruling of the trial court by the Court of Appeals is both unremarkable and consistent with prior law.

The Estate, however, argues that the Court of Appeals' ruling "conflicts with binding precedent" and that the compelling reasons requirement is "nebulous and still undefined." *See* Pet. for Cert. at 5-18. In addition, the Estate incorrectly asserts that the compelling reasons analysis does not apply to an order granting new trial *nisi remittitur* and that this supposed distinction between *additur* and *remittitur* "is fundamentally unfair." *Id.* at 9 n.2. Each of the Estate's arguments is without merit.

A. The Court of Appeals' opinion discussing additur is consistent with South Carolina precedent.

Contrary to the Estate's argument, the Court of Appeals' opinion is consistent with the well-established case law regarding *additur*. This Court has long stated that an award of new trial *nisi additur* may be granted only where compelling reasons justify the trial court's invasion of the province of the jury. *See Bailey v. Peacock*, 318 S.C. 13, 14,

455 S.E.2d 690, 691 (1995) (“If an award is merely inadequate or unduly liberal, the trial judge alone has the discretion to grant a new trial *nisi additur*. [] Compelling reasons, however, must be given to justify invading the jury’s province in this manner.”); *Pelican Bldg. Centers of Horry-Georgetown, Inc. v. Dutton*, 311 S.C. 56, 61, 427 S.E.2d 673, 676 (1993) (same). Likewise, the Court of Appeals has long repeated and applied this well-established rule in numerous cases. *See, e.g., Luchok v. Vena*, 391 S.C. 262, 264, 705 S.E.2d 71, 72 (Ct. App. 2010); *Todd v. Joyner*, 385 S.C. 509, 517, 685 S.E.2d 613, 618 (Ct. App. 2008); *Green v. Fritz*, 356 S.C. 566, 570, 590 S.E.2d 39, 41 (Ct. App. 2003); *Gruber v. Santee Frozen Foods, Inc.*, 309 S.C. 13, 18, 419 S.E.2d 795, 799 (Ct. App. 1992).

The Estate, however, argues that the Court of Appeals’ ruling goes beyond this time-tested rule and “sets a new and dangerous precedent . . . that if *any* amount of ‘noneconomic’ damages . . . is awarded by a jury, then the trial court cannot through the exercise of discretion grant *additur*.” Pet. for Cert. at 6-7. The Estate misstates the Court of Appeals’ holding and analysis. The Court of Appeals did not hold that a trial court can *never* increase a jury’s award of noneconomic damages as long as some of such damages are awarded. Rather, it simply held that such an increase must be justified by compelling reasons and that under the facts of this case there was no such reason.³

This holding is entirely consistent with this Court’s precedent that *additur* is permissible only where there is some significant and inescapable indication that the jury’s verdict is not consistent with the evidence presented and law instructed. This Court has

³ Specifically, the Court of Appeals concluded that the trial judge’s disagreement with the jury’s evaluation of the emotional impact of the testimony was not a compelling reason to invade their province and thus the *additur* was impermissible.

expressly held that *additur* is justified only where a grossly inadequate verdict indicates the jury's disregard of the facts or the court's instructions. *Craven v. Cunningham*, 292 S.C. 441, 443, 357 S.E.2d 23, 25 (1987) ("Inadequacy of a jury's verdict will not, per se, entitle litigants to a new trial or a new trial *additur*. [] A reviewing court will not interfere with the amount of a verdict unless the verdict is either so grossly excessive or inadequate that it must be deemed the result of the jury's disregard of the facts and the court's instructions.") (citations omitted).⁴

Further, the Court of Appeals' ruling is consistent with precedent holding that an *additur* order does not establish compelling reasons by merely listing the plaintiffs' claimed damages. *See Green v. Fritz*, 356 S.C. 566, 571, 590 S.E.2d 39, 41 (Ct. App. 2003) ("Where, as here, the evidence of damages is disputed, the mere listing of Green's claimed damages by the trial judge in his order does not constitute compelling reasons for invading the jury's province.")⁵ Here, the trial court's *additur* order simply listed the

⁴ Similarly, a trial judge's belief that the jury's award of noneconomic damages is inadequate is an insufficient basis upon which to grant a new trial absolute. *See Kalchthaler v. Workman*, 316 S.C. 499, 503, 450 S.E.2d 621, 623 (Ct. App. 1994) (affirming trial court's denial of motion for new trial and noting that "a claim for pain and suffering was one that peculiarly fell within the province of the jury to weigh and determine") (citations omitted).

⁵ The Estate has attempted to distinguish *Green* by arguing that the damages in *Green* were disputed while the noneconomic damages here were uncontested. It is true that Ford chose not to dispute the testimony regarding Riley's professional service, community standing, or his role as a friend, father, and husband. Nevertheless, the placement of a monetary value on friendship, reputation, or familial ties is an inherently inexact process, and testimony that someone's friendship or service were meaningful does not establish an uncontested *monetary value* on the loss of that friendship or service. Accordingly, because the noneconomic damages here are not undisputed, fixed amounts, the *Green* court's holding applies with equal force, and a trial court's "mere listing" of a plaintiff's claimed damages "does not constitute compelling reasons for invading the jury's province." *Green*, 356 S.C. at 571, 590 S.E.2d at 41.

reasons the Estate claimed entitled it to noneconomic damages. Applying prior case law, the Court of Appeals correctly held this did not constitute a compelling reason.

In sum, contrary to the Estate's contention, the Court of Appeals' ruling in this case did not diverge from this Court's precedent or its own precedent. Rather, it was completely consistent with South Carolina precedent to hold that a trial judge may not grant *additur* simply because he believes that testimony of noneconomic damages should be given greater emotional weight than the jury gave it, and that a trial court may not simply list or repeat a plaintiff's claimed damages and call them compelling reasons for increasing a verdict.

B. The "compelling reasons" requirement is neither ambiguous nor a meaningless redundancy.

The Estate repeatedly complains that the phrase "compelling reasons" is undefined, and thus concludes that the phrase is mere judicial surplusage that simply means "abuse of discretion." *See* Pet. for Cert. at 9-14 (asserting the phrase is "as yet undefined," that "[n]o standards of definitions of 'compelling reasons' were offered," and that "thirty years after the genesis of 'compelling reasons,' there is still no definition or guidance as to what would satisfy the standard"). Contrary to the Estate's Petition, however, the well-established rule requiring compelling reasons is neither ambiguous nor mere redundant verbiage.

Presumably, the Estate makes this argument in hopes of persuading this Court to grant certiorari, implying that this Court can and should set out a firm, fixed definition of a "compelling reason" to invade the jury's province. Such a definition is impracticable and unnecessary in light of the purpose of the compelling reasons requirement and this Court's prior guidance on what constitutes a compelling reason.

First, a fixed bright-line definition of the phrase “compelling reasons” is impracticable because that phrase is intended to strike a balance—both deferring to juries’ findings and also giving trial courts some, though not unfettered, discretion—and thus may not be capable of a precise, empirical definition. *See Luchok*, 391 S.C. at 264, 705 S.E.2d at 72 (“The requirement [to offer compelling reasons for invading the jury’s province] is imposed to balance the wide discretion given to a trial judge in ruling on a new trial motion with the substantial deference courts must give to a jury’s determination of damages.”) Such balancing tests, like other legal tests containing comparative descriptive terms, are not susceptible to exact definitions. *See, e.g., In re Treatment and Care of Luckabaugh*, 351 S.C. 122, 147, 568 S.E.2d 338, 350 (2002) (“The concept of equal protection is ‘difficult to define and not susceptible of exact delimitation.’”) (citation omitted); *Ellis v. Taylor*, 311 S.C. 66, 70, 427 S.E.2d 678, 681 (Ct. App. 1992) (noting that the word “reasonable” is “‘a relative, generic term difficult of adequate definition’”) (citing 75 C.J.S. Reasonable § 634).

In addition, the Estate’s argument ignores the fact that, to the extent possible, this Court *has* defined what constitute compelling reasons to invade the jury’s province. In *Craven*, this Court explained that the invasion of the jury’s province via *additur* is permissible when justified by the jury’s plain disregard of the facts or law. *Craven*, 292 S.C. at 443, 357 S.E.2d at 25 (“Inadequacy of a jury’s verdict will not, per se, entitle litigants to a new trial or a new trial *additur*. [] A reviewing court will not interfere with the amount of a verdict unless the verdict is either so grossly excessive or inadequate that it must be deemed the result of the jury’s disregard of the facts and the court’s instructions.”) (citations omitted). Here, the Court of Appeals’ opinion aligns with

Craven's definition. Because the jury awarded noneconomic damages—even if in a lesser amount than the trial judge wished—they cannot be said to have disregarded the facts, evidence, or the court's instructions.

Because this Court has defined the compelling reason test to the extent practicable, and because the Court of Appeals' opinion comports with that definition, there is no need for a grant of certiorari.

C. *There is no "fundamental unfairness" in applying the well-established compelling reasons requirement.*

In a final attempt to manufacture some basis upon which certiorari could be granted, the Estate asserts that the "compelling reason" requirement is fundamentally unfair because it applies only to an order granting new trial *nisi additur* and not to an order granting new trial *nisi remittitur*. See Pet. for Cert. at 9 n.2. Both the premise and the conclusion of this argument are incorrect. There is no question that the "compelling reason" requirement applies to *remittitur*. See *Curtis v. Blake*, 392 S.C. 494, 501, 709 S.E.2d 79, 82 (Ct. App. 2011) ("[W]e hold the circumstances cited by Blake do not constitute 'compelling reasons' that would warrant the grant of a new trial *nisi remittitur*." (citation omitted)); *Howard v. Roberson*, 376 S.C. 143, 155, 654 S.E.2d 877, 883 (Ct. App. 2007) ("The granting of a motion for new trial *nisi additur* or *remittitur* rests within the sound discretion of the trial court, but substantial deference must be afforded to the jury's determination of damages. [] Compelling reasons must be given to justify invading the jury's province in this manner."); *Proctor v. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control*, 368 S.C. 279, 320, 628 S.E.2d 496, 518 (Ct. App. 2006) ("[C]ompelling reasons must be given to justify invading the jury's province by granting a new trial *nisi remittitur*."); *Becker v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 339 S.C. 629, 638, 529 S.E.2d 758, 763

(Ct. App. 2000) (analyzing whether there were “compelling reasons to justify the grant of a *remitter*”).

Because the grant of a new trial *nisi additur* is subject to the same compelling reasons requirement as the grant of a new trial *nisi remitter*, there is no fundamental unfairness in that requirement. Accordingly, the Estate has failed to present any “special and important reason” to justify a writ of certiorari.

II. The Court of Appeals correctly analyzed the reasonableness of the allocation of the pre-trial settlement.

The Estate also argues that the Court of Appeals erred and deviated from controlling case law by analyzing the reasonableness of the way in which the Estate allocated the funds derived from the pre-trial settlement with the at-fault driver and by reallocating those funds to more reasonably reflect the evidence. *See* Pet. for Cert. at 18-24. The Court of Appeals’ analysis was not inconsistent with this Court’s precedent and reflects the same analysis and solution employed by other jurisdictions to consider this sort of scenario.

As noted in the Statement of the Case, *supra*, prior to trial, the estate settled with the at-fault driver for \$25,000. The settling parties agreed to allocate \$20,000 to the survival claim and \$5,000 to the wrongful death claim. The estate then proceeded to trial against Ford solely on the wrongful death claim. After the verdict, Ford moved for a setoff of \$25,000 to account for the estate’s settlement with the at-fault driver. The trial court denied the motion.

The Court of Appeals concluded that neither the Estate’s allocation nor Ford’s requested set-off were proper. Rather, it held that the parties were entitled to have the trial court analyze the proper allocation of the settlement in light of the evidence and, if

necessary, reallocate the settlement amount to comport with the evidence. The Court of Appeals conducted this analysis and determined that 80% of the settlement (*i.e.*, \$20,000) should have been allocated to the wrongful death claim, and 20% of the settlement (*i.e.*, \$5,000) should have been allocated to the survival claim. *Ford v. Riley*, 408 S.C. 1, 17, 757 S.E.2d 422, 432 (Ct. App. 2014). The Court of Appeals determined this allocation was reasonable based on the “minimal” evidence that Riley briefly survived the collision. *Id.* at 15, 757 S.E.2d at 430 (noting the sole evidence of survival was one of the first witnesses who “‘heard something in the bushes,’ saw Riley on the ground, and ‘heard a gasping sound’”).

The Court of Appeals’ analysis and reallocation of the settlement is strikingly similar to the analysis and reallocation of a settlement recently affirmed by this Court in *Rutland v. S.C. Dept. of Transp.*, 400 S.C. 209, 734 S.E.2d 142 (2012). In *Rutland*, prior to trial the plaintiff had settled with one party, allocating part of the settlement to the wrongful death claim and part to the survival claim. After trial, the trial court reallocated the entire settlement amount to the wrongful death claim, noting there was “no evidence of conscious pain or suffering” to support the survival claim. *Rutland*, 400 S.C. at 214, 734 S.E.2d at 144.

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